IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The South Carolina Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JAN 12 2015

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Edward W. Miller, Presiding Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-23-1833
Appellate Case No. 2013-001645

D&C Builders, Inc. Appellant,

v.

Richard M. Buckley and Wells Fargo National Association Defendants,
And Richard M. Buckley Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.
Scott Dodenhoff Third-Party Defendant,

Of Whom,
Richard M. Buckley Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Brian A. Martin, Esquire
BRIAN A. MARTIN, LLC
212 Trade Street
Greer, South Carolina 29651
(864) 879-7779
Attorney for Appellant

M. Stokely Holder, Esquire

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in Ordering Appellant to reveal specific confidential information learned or likely learned by Counsel for Respondent through confidential attorney-client communications in its prior representation of Appellant in order to substantiate the disqualification of Counsel for Respondent under Rule 1.9 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct?

- II. Did the Circuit Court err in refusing to grant an Injunction preventing Respondent and Counsel for Respondent from accessing the specific confidential information Appellant was ordered to provide to the Court to substantiate the disqualification of Counsel for Respondent under Rule 1.9 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct?

- III. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to find that the matters involved in the prior representation and current representation were “substantially related” and disqualify Respondent’s Counsel?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal involves Rule 1.9 of the Rules of Professional Conduct for attorneys and the rights associated with attorney-client confidential information in the course of seeking disqualification of an attorney under Rule 1.9. D&C Builders, Inc. (“D&C Builders”) served and filed a Notice and Certificate of Mechanic’s Lien against Richard M. Buckley (“Buckley”) and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”) on February 11, 2013 in the amount of \$29,389.00. (R. pp. 7-11). D&C Builders then filed an action in Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on April 1, 2013 seeking to foreclose that Mechanic’s Lien. (R. pp. 12-19). Wells Fargo filed an Answer and Consent to Reference on or about April 25, 2013. (R. p. 20). Richard M. Buckley, through his counsel M. Stokely Holder and the law firm of Kenison, Dudley & Crawford, LLC, (collectively “Kenison Firm”) filed an Answer, Counterclaims and Third-Party claims against Third-Party Defendant Scott Dodenhoff (“Dodenhoff”) on May 15, 2013. (R. pp. 25-61)

On May 15, 2013, Kenison Firm served both D&C Builders and Dodenhoff with Interrogatories, Request for Production of Documents and Requests to Admit. (R. pp. 184-216). Also on May 15, 2013, the Kenison Firm filed a Motion to Dismiss on behalf of Buckley. (R. pp. 23-24).

A Motion to Disqualify Attorney and Law Firm with supporting Affidavit was filed by D&C Builders on June 19, 2013 and served on Buckley and the Kenison Firm on June 20, 2013. (R. pp. 62-64). A hearing was scheduled on Buckley’s Motion to Dismiss on June 20, 2013 before the Honorable Letitia Verdin. (R. pp. 70-75).

The hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was continued to give Buckley time to respond to the Motion to Disqualify and pending final resolution of the Motion to Disqualify. (R. p. 74, line 2). Judge Verdin stayed the time for D&C Builders and Dodenhoff to Reply to Counterclaims, Answer Third Party Claims, Respond to Interrogatories, Requests to Produce and Requests to Admit pending final resolution of the Motion to Disqualify. (R. p. 73, lines 17-21).

Buckley filed an Amended Answer, Counterclaims and Third-Party Claims on July 8, 2013. (R. pp. 76-109). The hearing on the Motion to Disqualify was also held on July 8, 2013 before the Honorable Edward Miller. (R. pp. 130-155). An Order was filed on July 16, 2013 requiring D&C Builders to submit a privilege log to the Court, Buckley and to the Kenison Firm to support its Motion to Disqualify “containing the specific information and knowledge it contends that KDC acquired through its prior representation of Plaintiff which will injuriously affect Plaintiff in this 2013 Action.” (R. p. 5, ¶ 4). The Motion to Disqualify was held in abeyance by the Court pending receipt of this information. (R. p. 6, ¶ 3).

On July 16, 2013, D&C Builders filed a Motion to Reconsider, Clarify and Amend Order to Issue Injunction with supporting Exhibits as to the Court Order of July 16, 2013. (R. pp. 156-160). A hearing was held on the Motion to Reconsider, Clarify and Amend Order to Issue Injunction on July 23, 2013 before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. (R. pp. 175-183).

An Order denying the Motion to Reconsider, Clarify and Amend Order to Issue Injunction was filed on July 25, 2013. (R. pp. 1-2). D&C Builders filed its Notice of Appeal on July 26, 2013. (R. pp. 248-249).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter arises out of a motion to disqualify attorney Holder and the Kenison Firm from representing Defendant Buckley in this matter due to a conflict of interest. The Kenison Firm was actively representing Plaintiff D&C Builders, Inc. in a substantially related matter during the time that the actions giving rise to the current claims between D&C Builders and Buckley were arising. The Kenison Firm did not consult with D&C Builders to obtain consent prior to undertaking the current representation of Buckley. D&C Builders did not waive the conflict. (R. p. 68, ¶ 29).

Representation of D&C Builders.

D&C Builders is a construction company. Dodenhoff is a licensed contractor, shareholder, director and Vice President with the company. (R. p. 65, ¶ 2). On July 1, 2011, Dodenhoff retained the Kenison Firm to represent D&C Builders with regard to a large outstanding debt owed by a company called TMKG, Inc. for a construction job. (R. p. 65, ¶ 4). John T. Crawford, Jr. and Townes B. Johnson were the attorneys with the Kenison Firm representing D&C Builders in that case. (R. p. 65, ¶ 4). Dodenhoff was the sole contact with the Kenison Firm at all times on behalf of D&C Builders. (R. p. 66, ¶ 7).

During the course of the representation of D&C Builders by the Kenison Firm against TMKG, Inc., Dodenhoff provided confidential information to the Kenison Firm regarding the corporate structure and internal operations of D&C Builders. (R. p. 66, ¶ 9). Dodenhoff also provided confidential financial information related to the company

(R. p. 66, ¶ 11), as well as confidential information regarding his authorization and actions as an agent of the company. (R. p. 66, ¶ 12). Although some confidential information was provided in a written form such as e-mail communication, much of the information was provided to the attorneys at the Kenison Firm through verbal attorney/client communications. (R. p. 66, ¶ 8).

The Kenison Firm engaged in lengthy and extensive actions during its representation of D&C Builders against TMKG, Inc. It filed a Notice and Certificate of Mechanics' Lien on August 8, 2011 asserting a lien for services, materials and labor furnished in the amount of \$74,123.40. (R. pp. 269-270). On September 27, 2011, it filed a Lis Pendens, Summons and Complaint to foreclose the mechanics' lien on behalf of D&C Builders asserting claims for breach of contract, quantum meruit, and foreclosure of mechanics' lien (R. p. 256, ¶ 12 – p. 260, ¶ 35) and served interrogatories and requests for production of documents. (R. pp. 324-332). The Kenison Firm also filed a motion for partial summary judgment on behalf of D&C Builders on September 27, 2011. (R. pp. 278-280).

TMKG, Inc. filed an Answer and Counterclaims on November 22, 2011, denying the allegations of D&C Builders and asserting its own counterclaims against D&C Builders for breach of contract and quantum meruit. (R. p. 287, ¶ 12 – p. 288 ¶ 20).

The Kenison Firm filed a Reply to Counterclaims for D&C Builders on December 22, 2011 denying the allegations of the counterclaims and asserting affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 300-310). TMKG, Inc. filed a Memorandum in Opposition to D&C Builders' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on February 29, 2012. (R. p. 311-315). The Kenison Firm filed a Motion to Compel Discovery with supporting

Exhibits on March 2, 2012. (R. pp. 321-339). On March 5, 2012, TMKG, Inc. filed a Petition to Vacate Mechanic's Lien and its own Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 340-345). An offer of settlement was filed by the Kenison Firm on April 13, 2012. (R. pp. 356-357).

A hearing was held on the cross motions for summary judgment on April 19, 2012. (R. p. 355). An Affidavit of Scott Dodenhoff with supporting Exhibits was filed on April 19, 2012. (R. pp. 358-359). Following the hearing, an Order was entered on May 3, 2012 denying both motions for summary judgment. (R. p. 378-379). Subsequent to the denial of summary judgment, the parties engaged in extensive negotiations between April and July 2012 ultimately resulting in a settlement. (R. p. 67, ¶ 15). A Stipulation of Dismissal was filed on July 20, 2012. (R. p. 380).

Representation of Buckley.

In December of 2011, during the exact time the case against TMKG, Inc. was pending and the above-referenced discovery and motions were taking place, Dodenhoff was contacted by Buckley's son, Matt Buckley, about renovating Buckley's home. On January 4, 2012, Buckley and D&C Builders entered into an agreement to renovate Buckley's home located at 105 Cammer Ave. in Greenville (the "Buckley Project"). (R. p. 67, ¶ 14).

Construction on the Buckley Project began on February 5, 2012, two months prior to the TMKG summary judgment hearing, and continued through November 16, 2012. (R. p. 67, ¶ 15). The Certificate of Occupancy for the Buckley Project was issued on July 31, 2012. (R. p. 67, ¶ 16).

Upon the completion of the project, Buckley refused to pay the remaining balance due to D&C Builders for the renovations. (R. p. 67, ¶ 18). D&C Builders filed a Notice and Certificate of Mechanics' Lien to preserve its rights and then filed the current action to foreclose that Mechanics Lien. (R. p. 16, ¶ 4).

Buckley hired the Kenison Firm to defend the foreclosure action brought by D&C Builders. (R. p. 112, ¶ 7). On behalf of Defendant Buckley, the Kenison Firm filed an Answer, Counterclaims and Third-Party Claims against Dodenhoff individually. This Answer asserts fourteen (14) affirmative defenses, and although numbered differently, thirteen (13) of those defenses asserted in the Buckley Answer against D&C Builders were defenses also asserted by the Kenison Firm on behalf of D&C Builders in the Reply to the counterclaims in the TMKG, Inc. case. (Compare R. pp. 28-33 with R. pp. 306-309).

The initial Complaint filed by the Kenison Firm in the TMKG case on behalf of D&C Builders included causes of action for breach of contract (R. p. 256, ¶ 12 – p. 257, ¶ 16), quantum meruit (R. p. 257, ¶ 17 – p. 258, ¶ 20) and foreclosure of mechanics' lien. (R. p. 259, ¶ 28 – p. 260, ¶ 35). The Answer by TMKG asserted counterclaims against D&C Builders of breach of contract (R. p. 290, ¶ 37 – p. 291, ¶ 45), quantum meruit (R. p. 292, ¶ 53 – p. 293, ¶ 58) and vacation of mechanics' lien. (R. p. 291, ¶ 46 – p. 292, ¶ 52).

The D&C Builders complaint against Buckley simply asserts a cause of action of foreclosure of the mechanics' lien. (R. pp. 13-17). However, the Buckley Answer filed by the Kenison Firm includes eight (8) counterclaims against D&C Builders including

breach of contract, negligence, conversion, fraud, negligent misrepresentation, constructive fraud, and slander of title. (R. p. 39 ¶ 68 – 50 ¶ 114).

The Kenison Firm crossed the ethical line in alleging that its former client (1) **“did not have a functioning corporate structure, was incapable of making independent decisions, and did not follow the corporate formalities applicable to a South Carolina corporation at all pertinent times herein,”** (R. p. 50, ¶ 116); (2) **“was insolvent prior to and/or during construction of the Project”** (R. p. 51, ¶ 117); and (3) **“was grossly undercapitalized prior to and during construction of the Project.”** (R. p. 51, ¶ 118; R. p. 67, ¶ 20). Additionally, the **Kenison Firm asserted Third-Party claims against Dodenhoff**, the corporate representative for D&C, individually, that he (1) **treated debts and assets of D&C as his own personal debts** (R. p. 51, ¶ 120); (2) **dominated the finances, policies and business practices of D&C such that it was operated as a façade for his own personal operations** (R. p. 51, ¶ 121); and (3) **used his control of D&C to commit fraud against Buckley.** (R. p. 51, ¶ 122 – p. 52, ¶ 125; p.29, ¶131 – p.32, ¶148; R. p. 67, ¶ 20). **The Kenison Firm also alleged that D&C Builders and Dodenhoff breached fiduciary duties by not properly maintaining, accounting, paying or applying funds paid to them in trust.** (R. p. 59, ¶ 162).

In addition to the filing of the Answer, Counterclaims and Third-Party Claims, the Kenison Firm also served interrogatories and requests to produce on D&C Builders seeking information as to the corporate structure (R. p. 191, ¶ 16; p. 192, ¶ 18 ; p. 196, ¶ 17; p. 197, ¶18, 20), financial status (R. p. 190, ¶ 13 – p. 192, ¶ 20, p. 197, ¶ 18, 19) and information related to all jobs since January 1, 2011 (R. p. 192, ¶ 22), which would necessarily include all of the TMKG records. (R. p. 68, ¶ 21, 22). The Kenison Firm

also served Requests to Admit requesting D&C and Dodenhoff to admit that they do not maintain proper accounting records or appropriate tax records. (R. p. 198, ¶ 2; p. 199, ¶ 4-8; p. 68, ¶ 23).

Assertion of conflict of interest.

Based upon the allegations asserted by the Kenison Firm on behalf of Buckley, D&C Builders believed that confidential information obtained by the Kenison Firm in its representation of D&C Builders against TMKG, Inc. was being used, or was very likely to be used, against D&C Builders in the furtherance of the defenses and counterclaims of Buckley in this matter. (R. p. 68, ¶ 27, 28).

Prior to undertaking the representation of Buckley in this matter, the Kenison Firm was aware that it had previously represented D&C Builders in a prior mechanics' lien and foreclosure action against TMKG, Inc. (R. p. 111, ¶ 3). The Kenison Firm was also made aware of the conflict by Counsel for D&C Builders prior to the filing of the Motion to Disqualify. (R. p. 140, lines 4-12).

At the hearing on the Motion to Disqualify, D&C Builders presented the information referenced above and argued that the TMKG case and the Buckley case were "substantially related" under Rule 1.9 of the Rules of Professional Conduct and the representation of Buckley was prohibited. (R. p. 137, line 12 – p. 138, line 3). The Kenison Firm challenged the Motion to Disqualify on the basis that the facts of the Buckley case and the TMKG case are not "substantially related" and are "totally opposite," (R. p. 145, ll. 2-3), that they are unaware of any specific confidential matter at issue in the Buckley case, (R. p. 145, ll. 19-20), and have not been provided any specific

alleged confidential information that could potentially create a conflict. (R. p. 146, line 22 – p. 147, line 2). In support of these assertions, Attorneys Holder, Johnson and Crawford all state in their respective affidavits that they are “unaware of” or “do not remember” any confidential information provided by D&C Builders, Inc. to them in connection with their prior representation against TMKG, Inc. (R. p. 114, ¶13; p. 117, ¶4; p. 120, ¶4).

In addition to the above referenced Affidavits, the Kenison Firm also attempted to address the matter by filing an Amended Answer, Counterclaims and Third-Party claims removing some of the allegations against D&C Builders and Dodenhoff. (R. pp. 76 – 109).

During argument at the hearing, the Circuit Court requested D&C Builders provide the specific information it contended the Kenison Firm learned in its representation in the TMKG case that would be injurious to D&C Builders in the current case. (R. p. 150, lines 19-22). D&C Builders argued that such specific disclosure was not required by the ethical rule given the cases were “substantially related.” D&C Builders also objected to disclosing such information due to the client confidentiality. (R. p. 150, line 23 – p. 153, line 9). The Circuit Court nevertheless ordered D&C Builders to prepare and submit a privilege log to both the Court *and* the Kenison Firm of the information claimed to be confidential that the Kenison Firm could potentially use in the Buckley case. (R. p. 153, line 10 – p. 154, line 17).

Prior to the entry of the Order of July 16, 2013, counsel for D&C Builders requested clarification from the Circuit Court on the preparation of the privilege log and potential ethical issues implicated by the mere creation of the privilege log, as well as

requesting that the privilege log not be provided to the Kenison Firm. (R. p. 161 - 167). Specifically, Counsel expressed concern that complying with the Circuit Court's directive to produce the privilege log would arguably force Counsel to violate ethical obligations to his client. Counsel requested specific instruction as to how to address matters relayed in confidential attorney/client communications. (R. p. 166, lines 1-40). The Kenison Firm objected to this request and provided a proposed Order to the Circuit Court, which Order was signed by the Circuit Court without discussion and filed on July 16, 2013. (R. p. 168).

Having not received receiving further direction from the Circuit Court on the ethical issues raised in its letter, D&C Builders filed a Motion to Reconsider, Clarify and Amend Order to include Injunction again seeking clarification on the ethical issues. On July 18, 2013, the Kenison Firm forwarded a letter to the Court responding to the Motion to Reconsider and specifically stating unequivocally that **"no confidential information was gained by my firm in its prior representation of Plaintiff."** (R. p. 246, lines 27-29). The letter further states that **"The Plaintiff has failed to provide any "specific" confidential facts to counter this position."** (R. p. 246, lines 31-33).

A brief hearing was held on July 23, 2013 on the Motion to Reconsider wherein the Circuit Court expressed that it would not disqualify a law firm without some kind of basis (R. p. 178, lines 19-22), that if the Kenison Firm has confidential privileged information, and needed to have the opportunity to respond and explain whether it is or isn't privileged (R. p. 178 line 23 – p. 179, line 3). The Circuit Court admonished *Counsel for D&C Builders* that the only potential ethical violation would be Counsel failing to comply with the Order to produce the privilege log! (R. p. 180, lines 23-25).

Despite D&C Builder's position that a decision should be made based on the cases being "substantially related" and the likelihood that the Kenison Firm obtained confidential information rather than requiring disclosure of specific confidential attorney/client communications, the Circuit Court denied the motion to reconsider and upheld the Order for D&C Builders to provide a privilege log of the confidential privileged information it had provided to the Kenison Firm in the prior representation. This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a law supersedes the Rules of Professional Conduct is a question of law. Rule 1.6 Cmnt. 13, RPC, Rule 407 SCACR. An appellate court may make its own determination on questions of law and need not defer to the trial court's rulings in this regard. Crossmann Cmty. of N.C., Inc. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co., 395 S.C. 40, 47, 717 S.E.2d 589, 592 (2011)(citation omitted). "In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court." Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 191, 607 S.E.2d 707, 708 (S.C. 2005).

The determination of whether a party may immediately appeal an order issued before final judgment is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 and must fall into one of those categories to be immediately appealable. Id. "The denial of a party's right to a particular mode of trial is immediately appealable as a substantial right under Section 14-3-330(2)." Id. at 709 [citing Flagstar Corp. v. Royal Surplus Lines, 341 S.C. 68, 72, 533 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2000)]. The attorney-client relationship is extremely important in our adversarial system and the rights related to representation by a particular attorney are

closely related to a particular mode of trial. Id. at 710. An order granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction is also immediately appealable. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(4), Curtis v. State of South Carolina, 345 S.C. 557, 568, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (S.C. 2001).

ARGUMENT

A simple and logical rule is hammered into every law student in law school -- “You cannot represent a new client against an old client without there being a conflict of interest.” There are limited exceptions to this rule and sometimes it is permissible for an attorney to represent a new client against a former client. This case at bar between D&C Builders and Buckley does not fall into one of the narrow exceptions.

As the Supreme Court stated in State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (S.C. 2000):

Every South Carolinian has a vital interest in the fair administration of justice. This Court bears the ultimate responsibility for maintaining judicial integrity and the high standards of professional conduct among the members of the bar.

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