THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Presiding Judge

---

Case No. 2013-CP-23-1833  
(Appellate Case No. 2013-001645)

---

RECEIVED  
JAN 12 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

D& C Builders, Inc. ....Appellant,

v.

Richard M. Buckley and Wells Fargo National Association, Defendants,  
And Richard M. Buckley, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.  
Scott Dodenhoff, Third-Party Defendant

Of whom Richard M. Buckley is the .....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

M. Stokely Holder, Esquire  
Kenison, Dudley & Crawford, LLC  
704 East McBee Avenue  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 242-4899

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

To compound matters, after construction was initiated on the Project, and amid the Buckleys' concerns regarding the quality and oversight of the work being performed, together with the billing practices of Appellant, the Buckleys made attempts to contact Appellant to determine the status of construction and to discuss the Buckleys' issues with Appellant's construction of the Project, including the quality, conformity to the Respondent's design and specifications, evidence of costs, and timeliness of construction, many times to no avail as Dodenhoff was rarely in town and rarely on the Project site during the majority of Appellant's construction of the Project. *[Id.]*

Despite being provided adequate notice and opportunity to cure the various construction defects plainly apparent on the Project, the Appellant has failed to do so. *[Id.]* Despite being provided adequate notice and opportunity to produce the backup information to support the costs Appellant has represented as being incurred for the Project, the Appellant has failed to do so. *[Id.]* Despite being provided adequate notice and opportunity to cure the various work of Appellant which is not in conformance with the plans and specifications for the Project, the Appellant has failed to do so. *[Id.]* Despite adequate

notice of the foregoing, the Appellant unilaterally ceased construction on the Project in October 2012 and has never returned to the Project. *[Id.]*

Yet, on February 10, 2013, the Appellant – to the further shock and dismay of the Buckleys - served the Mechanic's Lien on Respondent and then filed the underlying lawsuit. *[R. pp. 7-11]*

On or about March 19, 2013, attorney Jack Heckman called the undersigned, M. Stokely Holder, of the KDC firm and explained to attorney Holder that attorney Heckman had been contacted by Respondent and his family to see if attorney Heckman would represent Mr. Buckley in the above captioned matter. *[R. pp. 110-115, 123-125]* Attorney Heckman explained to Attorney Holder that the Buckleys called him because of a mutual friend he shared with Matt Buckley, Respondent's son. *[Id.]* Attorney Heckman told attorney Holder that he had explained to the Buckleys that he does not typically handle construction litigation matters but that he would refer them to attorney Holder who he knew to handle these types of matters. *[Id.]* Attorney Heckman asked attorney Holder if the KDC firm would be interested in representing Buckley, and attorney Holder told him that his firm would be glad to speak with the Buckleys once he was able to run a conflict check. *[Id.]* At no time during any conversation with attorney Heckman was the KDC firm made aware by attorney Heckman or the Buckleys of any prior representation of the Appellant by the KDC firm. *[Id.]*

Upon the KDC firm running a standard conflict check, attorney Townes B. Johnson, III, and attorney John T. Crawford, Jr., both of the KDC firm, disclosed that they had previously represented D&C Builders, Inc. on a standard mechanic's lien foreclosure

matter whereby D&C Builders, Inc. had hired attorney Crawford to file a lien and foreclosure matter on behalf of D&C Builders, Inc. *[R. pp. 119-122, 116-118, 110-115]* Attorneys Johnson and Crawford explained that they assisted with the litigation surrounding the claim and that it was resolved amicably. *[Id.]* The KDC firm concluded that the two matters were not substantially related and that no conflict existed. *[Id.]*

Based on the conclusion reached by the KDC firm that no conflict of interest exists, attorney Holder agreed to a consultation with the family of Buckley, including Buckley's daughter-in-law and authorized agent, Pamela Buckley. *[R. pp. 110-115]* Prior to discussing anything with any of the Buckleys, no one at the KDC firm had ever met them or spoken to any of them before about anything. *[R. pp. 110-115, 119-122, 116-118]*

Upon first discussing the matter with Mrs. Buckley, attorney Holder explained to her that the KDC firm had previously represented D&C Builders, Inc. in a matter that it understood to be completely separate and unrelated to the issue at hand. *[R. pp. 126-129, 110-115]* At that very time, Mrs. Buckley explained that Scott Dodenhoff (the Appellant's authorized agent) had, without being prompted in any way, voluntarily talked at great lengths to the Buckleys during the project at issue about a lawsuit that he was involved with at that time against who he described disparagingly to the Buckleys as "the Germans". *[Id.]* Mrs. Buckley explained to the KDC firm that Mr. Dodenhoff had spoken to the Buckleys in particular about how that lawsuit had impacted him and his company, the Appellant, financially and how important the Buckley job was to them. *[Id.]*

The Buckleys further explained to the KDC firm how Mr. Dodenhoff was Matt Buckley's childhood friend and, prior to the facts and circumstances giving rise to the

underlying claims, his lifelong friend. *[Id., R. pp. 23-61]* The Buckleys explained to the KDC firm that, as such, Mr. Dodenhoff spoke with Matt Buckley on a very frequent basis about a myriad of matters, including, without limitation, the ongoing business of both Appellant, D&C Builders, Inc., and Mr. Dodenhoff. *[Id.]* The Buckleys told the KDC firm that Mr. Dodenhoff frequently shared detailed information with the Buckleys regarding the corporate structure and financial status of Mr. Dodenhoff and his company, which they did not think was very strange because of Mr. Dodenhoff's relationship with the Buckleys and Mr. Dodenhoff's known propensity to openly discuss his financial status and affairs. *[Id.]*

The Buckleys explained to the KDC firm that they were unaware that the KDC firm had previously assisted Mr. Dodenhoff with the prior lawsuit that he had discussed at length with them. *[R. pp. 126-129, 110-115]*

An Answer, Counterclaims, and Third-Party Claims together with a Motion to Dismiss was filed by the KDC firm on behalf of the Buckleys. *[R. pp. 23-61]* Appellant filed its Motion to Disqualify. The KDC firm again reviewed the matter and again sought the assistance of outside counsel, and again reached the same conclusion that no conflict existed. In opposition to the Appellant's Motion to Disqualify, affidavits were filed by attorneys Holder, Heckman, Crawford and Johnson; and Mrs. Buckley filed an affidavit on behalf of the Buckleys. *[R. pp. 123-125, 119-122, 116-118, 110-115, 126-129]*

During the course of oral and written argument to the lower court in conjunction with Appellant's Motion to Disqualify, Appellant repeatedly *alleged* that the two matters are substantially related and that the KDC firm obtained confidential factual information from Appellant in the 2011 Action that will be used by the KDC firm in the 2013 Action

to advance the interests of Respondent. *[R. pp. 70-75, 130-155, 175-184]* However, when Judge Miller requested what the specific confidential information could be (as the affidavit testimony of the Buckleys showed that the Appellant itself had shared detailed information with the Respondent about not only what the Appellant was now complaining about as far as the corporate structure, finances and operation of Appellant but also details about the 2011 Action), Appellant could not articulate any specific information in support thereof. *[Id.]* Strikingly, the Appellant did not even produce one document from the 2011 Action in support of its position. Instead, the Appellant argued that it should not be required to submit the purported confidential information pursuant to a comment to Rule 1.9 of the SC Rules of Professional Conduct. *[Id.; R. pp. 218-227]*

Strangely, yet glaringly, Appellant further argued that upon any such submission to the lower court, it may be determined that the information is not, in fact, confidential between Appellant and the KDC firm because it may end up being a case of such information not having been previously provided to the KDC firm. *[R. p. 233]* The Appellant also represented to the lower court that Appellant understood the lower court had not ultimately ruled on the Motion to Disqualify. *[R. p. 224 (“Finally, in the event that the Motion to Disqualify is ultimately denied,...)"]*

Respondent responded to the wavering assertions of Appellant by stating via sworn affidavit testimony that the two cases were not factually related in any way and, importantly, by making clear that there existed no confidential factual information obtained in the 2011 Action that could be used in this action against the interests of Respondent because: (1) the KDC firm did not recall obtaining any confidential

information in the 2011 Action; (2) the information obtained in the 2011 Action was a matter of public record; and, notably, (3) the Appellant itself had previously and voluntarily disclosed to Respondent extensive information and details about: (a) the 2011 Action; (b) the financial status of the Appellant; (c) the impact the outcome of the 2011 Action would have on the financial status of Appellant; (d) the corporate structure of Appellant; (e) the ongoing operations of the Appellant; (f) the authorized representative of the Appellant and their authority; and (f) the details of the ongoing legal matters of the Appellant – all of which it claims forms the basis of the ‘conflict’. *[R. pp. 70-75, 175-184; 126-129, 110-115, 119-122, 116-118]* The Respondent confirmed via sworn testimony that the claims and assertions brought by Respondent in this 2013 Action are all based on the knowledge of factual information gained solely through Respondent’s personal dealings with Appellant and not through Respondent’s subsequent relationship with the KDC firm. *[Id.]*

The Respondents have remained anxious to resolve the underlying dispute with the counsel of their choosing. Perhaps in recognition of the damning underlying facts, the Appellant has repeatedly delayed the inevitable litigation of the claims. This appeal, including the lack of support for the timeliness and substance of same - as described herein, together with the Appellant’s other failed bites at the apple on the same issue in different forums evidences not only the Appellant’s obvious desire to delay the resolution of the claims against it but also the palpable, inexplicable desire of Appellant to further damage the Respondent, and to attempt to harm the reputation of the KDC firm.

## ARGUMENT

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN ORDERING APPELLANT TO REVEAL TO THE LOWER COURT AND TO RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL THE SPECIFIC INFORMATION THAT APPELLANT HAS ONLY GENERALLY ALLEGED TO BE INFORMATION PREVIOUSLY PROVIDED BY APPELLANT TO RESPONDENT'S COUNSEL WHICH ALLEGEDLY SUBSTANTIATES APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR DISQUALIFICATION?

The following argument of Respondent should not be considered a waiver of its position as described below regarding the timeliness/ripeness of Appellant's appeal of this issue.

This narrow issue involves an instruction from the lower court that was never requested by Respondent. *[R. pp. 70-75, 130-155, 175-183]* While the Respondent certainly understands the position of the lower court and the fundamental fairness associated with the due process aspects attendant thereto, the Respondent, as evidenced by its representations to the lower court, requested that the lower court grant the Appellant's Motion to Reconsider as it pertained to the lower court's instructions to Appellant to submit a privilege log. *[R. pp. 238, 245-247]* In other words, the Respondent requested that the lower court rescind that portion of its Order requiring the Appellant to submit a privilege log. *[Id.]* In so requesting, the Respondent was hopeful the lower court would agree and then issue an order on the main issue of disqualification, so as to expedite the resolution of this matter. *[Id.]* Instead, the lower court denied the Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. *[R. pp. 1-2]*

Subject to only this Court's dismissal of the remaining issues on appeal or this Court's affirmation of the lower court on same, the Respondent remains willing to consent to the relief requested by Appellant on this issue.

**II. DID THE LOWER COURT ISSUE A DISPOSITIVE ORDER DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY?**

**It remains abundantly clear from the entire record on appeal, to include, without limitation, the transcripts and the Appellant's own representations to both the lower court and to *this court* that the lower court never issued a dispositive order on the issue of whether Respondent's counsel should be disqualified. [R. pp. 70-75, 130-155, 175-183; 217-247; 1-6]**

The Order of the lower court states in no uncertain terms that “**the Plaintiff's Motion [to Disqualify] shall be held in abeyance.**” [R. p. 6 (*emphasis added*)] The Appellant's separate correspondence to the lower court states that “**in the event that the Motion to Disqualify is ultimately denied...**” [R. p. 224 (*emphasis added*)] The Appellant also provided the lower court and this Court with its Notice of Appeal which clearly states that it was appealing “the Order of the [lower court] requiring Appellant to provide specific confidential information to Counsel for Respondent in support of Appellant's **pending motion to Disqualify Counsel for Respondent.**” [*Id.*; R. pp. 248-249 (*emphasis added*)] Not that stating the obvious is necessary, as the record remains clearly void of any ruling on the Motion to Disqualify, the Appellant has continuously acknowledged this glaring fact by repeatedly stating that the Motion to Disqualify was held in abeyance by the lower court pending receipt of this information.

**A. IF NOT, IS THE APPEAL OF THIS ISSUE RIPE?**

As was outlined in the recent South Carolina Supreme Court opinion in the case of Energys Delaware, Inc. v. Hopkins, 401 S.C. 615, 738 S.E.2d 478 (2013):

“The right of appeal arises from and is controlled by statutory law.” Hagood

v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 194, 607 S.E.2d 707, 708 (2005). Generally, a party may only appeal from a final judgment, and piecemeal appeals should be avoided because most errors can be corrected through a new trial. Id. at 194–195, 607 S.E.2d at 708. Whether an order issued prior to or during trial is immediately appealable is governed primarily by Section 14–3–330 of the South Carolina Code (1979 & Supp.2012). Id. at 195, 607 S.E.2d at 708.

Section 14–3–330 provides this Court with appellate jurisdiction over:

- (1) Any intermediate judgment, order or decree in a law case involving the merits in actions commenced in the court of common pleas and general sessions, brought there by original process or removed there from any inferior court or jurisdiction, and final judgments in such actions; *provided*, that if no appeal be taken until final judgment is entered the court may upon appeal from such final judgment review any intermediate order or decree necessarily affecting the judgment not before appealed from;
- (2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action;
- (3) A final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding or upon a summary application in any action after judgment; and
- (4) An interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction or granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver.

Accordingly, an order must fall within one of the enumerated subsections to be immediately appealable. State v. Wilson, 387 S.C. 597, 600, 693 S.E.2d 923, 924 (2010).

Enersys Delaware, Inc. v. Hopkins, at 616-617, 738 S.E.2d at 479 (emphasis in original).

Moreover, South Carolina law is clear that “[n]o order is final until it is written and entered.” Corbin v. Kohler Co., 351 S.C. 613, 620, 571 S.E.2d 92, 96 (Ct.App.2002); Simpson v. Simpson, 377 S.C. 519, 525, 660 S.E.2d 274, 277 (Ct. App. 2008). The lower court has not issued any order on the ultimate issue of disqualification that could in any

way fall within any of the four enumerated subsections provided for by Statute. Therefore, the Appellant's attempt to have this Court rule on the issue of disqualification is not ripe.

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